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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
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RHINO MEMBRANES AND COATINGS }
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}

}
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INC.; EUROTEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.; }
HISHAM WASFI AYOUB; andin Rem }
“RhinoSMS.com”, }
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Defendants }

V. Civil Case No. 4:06-cv-2112

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONSOF LAW

Plaintiff Rhino Membranes and Coatings Inc.’s (“RtiMCI”) complaint alleges
claims for (1) violations of the Lanham Ar¢2) violations of the Copyright At(3) declaratory
relief; (4) infringement on common law trademargghtis and injury to business reputation; (5)
misappropriation of trade secrets and confidemtigrmation; (6) violations of the Texas Tort
Liability Act® (7) conversion; (8) tortious interference withisting and prospective business
relations and contracts; (9) fraud; (10) unfair petition; and (11) breach of a written
distributorship agreement. The Court held a benieh on these claims on October 9, 2007.
Accordingly, the Court hereby issues this Finding&act and Conclusions of Law with respect

to Plaintiff's claims.
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?17 U.S.C. § 10%t seq.

® Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code Ang§ 134.001- .005.
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FINDINGS OF FACT*

1. Defendant Hisham Ayoub (“H. Ayoub”) is the principand alter ego of
Defendants Eurotex International, Inc. (“Euroteaiid Rhino Seamless Membrane Systems, Inc.
(“Rhino SMSI").

2. Defendant H. Ayoub formed his company, Defendambtex, in 1998 for the
purpose of marketing the RHINO Trademarked Productie Middle East.

3. Defendant H. Ayoub’s brother, Mohammed Wasfi Ayo{iM. Ayoub”),
previously interacted with Plaintiff Rhino MCI dag the term of the Distributorship Agreement
(the “Agreement”) and is presently acting in coneath Defendants. Defendant M. Ayoub has
not, however, been presented with a summons amceraftthe present lawsuit, nor has a waiver

of service been filed.

* The facts are drawn from the Admissions of Fa¢haFirst Amended Joint Pretrial Order (Doc. 588,
trial testimony of David Caston, a Director of Rhjn(“Caston”) and Plaintiff's Exhibits A to Z-33 tred into
evidence at trial.

® Plaintiff's First Amended Verified Original Complaistates:

Since about September 1994, Plaintiff Rhino MCI bagn developing and
providing unique spray-on products that can be deedater proofing, roofing,
corrosion prevention, and pond and landfill lining.hese products contain a
two-component elastomeric system of polymer modifl@tumen (asphalt).
Both components are waterborne, non-flammabledwjtihat present no storage
or transportation hazards. The products are naarbdaus, non-toxic, odorless
and environmentally safe. Plaintiff Rhino MCl'srap-applied system was
developed in response to recurring failures enaredt by conventional
waterproofing systems. These sealer coatingseciegtervious membranes for
use in containment protection and barriers for agdinst solids, fluids and
gases. The finished product is seamless and hdlyds to most substrates.
Using these membrane systems allows labor saviongstal rapid application.
The product demonstrates performance superior éefqgmed membrane and
waterproofing systems in flexibility, elongation tp 1800%, recovery up to
95% and thermal cycling to cope with extreme cliesabf 35 to 80 deg. C.
(hereafter “the RHINO Trademarked Products”).

(Am. Compl., Doc. 35 at T 15).



4. Plaintiff's U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,04435or the following mark:
L, o
was cancelled due to inadvertence. From Septetfi#t to the present, however, Plaintiff has
been the owner of all rights at common law in thewe-referenced mark for the associated
goods and related services pertaining to impervioesnbranes, namely, a polymer-modified
asphalt emulsion for use in containment protectiod barriers for and against solids, fluids, and
gases for general industrial use.

5. From about 1995 to the present, Plaintiff has ihenowner of all common

law rights in the following trademark combining twerd “rhino” with the rhino caricature:

L

for the goods and associated services relating elmles coatings that create impervious
membranes for use in containment protection andebvarfor and against solids, fluids, and
gases.

6. Plaintiff is and, at all relevant times, has bdss dwner of all rights, title, and
interest in and to the RHINO caricature logo, iddhg all related goodwill and all prior use
established through its predecessor, Rhino Syshatesational Inc.

7. Plaintiff has invested a great deal of time, reseaand money into the
development and commercialization of its RHINO Emérked Products and, as a result, has
built up considerable goodwill, customer recogmtialistinction, and fame in its RHINO
TrademarkS. As part of its development of the RHINO Tradenearroducts, Plaintiff has

conducted a great deal of product research anddeditected to optimizing the products for the

°® “The RHINO trademark, the RHINO logo, and the RHIN@demark registrations are hereinafter
collectively referred to as the ‘RHINO Trademarks(ld. at  17).
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numerous intended applications, such as using tf@mwaterproofing, roofing, corrosion
prevention, and pond and landfill lining. In cortien with this research, Plaintiff has compiled
data on its products showing compliance with anlitaf ASTM International standards covering
product characteristics, such as elongation, tensirength, puncture resistance, water
absorption, thermal cycling, and aging, to nameva f

8. Plaintiff has established superior rights in thelRE caricature logo for these
goods and services both at common law and underdettademark law.

9. Plaintiff has also optimized the chemistries usedits two-part system,
namely the catalysts and the polymer and asphaliseom components. In so doing, Plaintiff
has also optimized the application technologieslegé¢o mix the two components on the fly via
a pressurized pump spray system. The optimizaifothe system has required research and
development efforts directed to the two chemicainponents, the ratios in which they are
mixed, the pump pressures used during the sprdicappn, and the spray nozzle and spray gun
design and configurations. Additionally, Plaintifhs spent a great deal of effort in optimizing
and, where customer applications so require, ramigihg the specifications and techniques
used for achieving the optimal spray-on applicatioht all times relevant to the present suit,
Plaintiff has maintained these research and dewsdop efforts and know-how as its own
confidential and trade secret information.

10. As part of the Agreement, Plaintiff provided Defantd Eurotex with access to

its Intellectual Property (“IP"Y, which includes the RHINO Trademarks, trade namsesyice

" The Agreement defines IP as follows:

All Trade Marks (as defined herein), trade namesyise marks, copyrights,

patents, registered designs, confidential inforomatncluding trade secrets and
know-how, and other IP rights used in relationte processing, manufacture,
sale, supply, use and application of the Produutisthe System. As used herein
Trade marks means all of the registered and unezgis trade names and trade
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marks, copyrights, patents, registered designsfidamntial information, including trade secrets
and know-how (including quality assurance manudiltyibutor's manuals, applicator manuals,
design manuals, training, product developmentsdymb specifications, formulations, raw
materials, supplier information, manufacturing mh@tion, pricing and cost information, etc.),
regarding the RHINO Trademarked Products and tiséesys for their application, as well as
other information used in relation to the procegsimanufacture, sale, supply, use, and
application of the RHINO Trademarked Products ahd system for such application.
Defendant Eurotex agreed to purchase the RHINOemadked Products from Plaintiff.

11.As part of the September 15, 2001, amendment tcAtdreement, Plaintiff
would permit, and perhaps require, one of its Doex; Caston, to be employed by the
distributor as an on-site technical and marketioigsaltant.

12.As part of Plaintiff's control and oversight of itRHINO Trademarked
Products and other IP rights, and pursuant to nenament to the Agreement, one of Plaintiff's
directors, Caston, was seconded to Abdulla Fouat Cb. (“Fouad” to serve in a direct
consultancy role in the marketing, sales, and apftn of the RHINO Trademarked Products in
the Territory?

13.0ne of the first matters Caston handled on Pldimtidehalf was arranging,
with the Customs Office in Dammam, Saudi Arabid, ddl the paperwork required for the

importation of the RHINO Trademarked Products iS@udi Arabia. This process included

marks, service marks, slogans, logos, emblems asjrs which identify the
Products and the business of supplying the Products

(Distributorship Agreement, Pl.’s Trial Ex. | afl$.1).

® In approximately August 2002, Defendant H. Ayoudlviaed Plaintiff that he had changed the name of hi
company from Eurotex to Hisham Ayoub Waterprooftrgctory and had become affiliated with a large $aud
Arabian company known as Abdulla Fouad Ltd. Co.

° The Agreement granted sole distributorship righftshe RHINO Trademarked Products to Defendant
Eurotex in Qatar, the United Arab Emirates, Bahr&audi Arabia, Kuwait, Oman, and Yemen (the “Tery").
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educating the Saudi Arabian Customs Officials altbet nature of the RHINO Trademarked
Products and advising them that there was no mefinganufacturing a like product in Saudi
Arabia. As a result of Caston’s efforts, Plaintiiceived an official reduction in the tariff
required for the importation of the RHINO TradenwdkProducts. As such, the Saudi Arabia
Customs Office assigned a specific identificatieimiber to be associated with any importation
of the RHINO Trademarked Products.

14.During the term of the Agreement, Plaintiff, priniathrough Caston, shared
with Defendant H. Ayoub and his companies the dmrftial and trade secret know-how
required to optimize the application of the RHINQademarked Products for use in the
Territory.  Such know-how included, for examplecheiques for applying the RHINO
Trademarked Products to the inverted roof systeftes dound in the Territory. Additionally,
given that civil engineering practices in the Twny differ from those employed in the United
States, Plaintiff spent considerable time and efmvising Defendant H. Ayoub and his
companies on how to optimize the application tooaumodate these practices. Furthermore,
because of the extreme heat in the Territory, Bthoeveloped a chemical formulation tailored
for used in the Territory and shared such formafatwith Defendant H. Ayoub and his
companies. Plaintiff also provided costing infotioa to Defendant H. Ayoub for use in the
project proposal process and to analyze profit marg

15.During the term of the Agreement, Plaintiff, prinathrough Caston, also
created and provided to Defendant H. Ayoub andcbisipanies the specifications for each
project in the Territory. Typically, Plaintiff wddi prepare and conduct the customer
presentations and negotiations along with Defendlamtyoub. As such, during the term of the

Agreement, Defendant H. Ayoub built up a wealthpadprietary information pertaining to the



identification of customers, customer needs anduirements, market applications,
specifications, and other information of a promrgtnature owned by Plaintiff. Furthermore,
during the term of the Agreement, Defendants lehifnem Plaintiff the identity of the sources
of raw materials used to produce the RHINO Trad&eProducts.

16.While serving as Plaintiff's distributor, Defendanindertook a contractual
obligation to secure, for Plaintiff's benefit, peation of Plaintiff's trademark in the Middle East.
Defendants, however, breached this duty by obtgimegistration of Plaintiff's trademark in
Saudi Arabia under the name of H. Ayoub.

17.While serving as Plaintiff's distributor, Defendanindertook a contractual
obligation to safeguard the confidential informatiof Plaintiff's trademark in the Middle East.
Defendants, however, breached this duty by obtgimegistration of Plaintiff's trademark in
Saudi Arabia under the name of H. Ayoub.

18.Plaintiff spent a great deal of money developing tftade secrets and
confidential information. Plaintiff reminded Defeantt H. Ayoub and his companies that
Plaintiff's proprietary trade secrets and configaninformation must be maintained as such by
Defendants per the Agreement. This confidentidl @ade secret information provides Plaintiff
with a competitive advantage. It constitutes infation that is not known outside of Plaintiff's
business, and it would be difficult to properly airg or duplicate this information. Further, this
information is known only by those employees ofiftle with a need to know. Plaintiff took
measures to protect its trade secrets and coni@entormation, for example, by requiring
distributors, such as Defendants, to sign writtemfidentiality agreements. Plaintiff also limited
the distribution of the proprietary formulations tlmose who needed to know and who were

bound by obligations of confidentiality.



19.During the Agreement’s term, Defendants purchasedntory from Plaintiff.
Plaintiff received Defendants’ last order in Sepbtem 2002. When this inventory was
exhausted, Defendants attempted unsuccessfullyake tieir own product. Defendants did not
order more RHINO Trademarked Product from Plaingribr to the Agreement’s May 4, 2003,
expiration date. As such, and for additional ressdhe Agreement, by its own operation,
automatically terminated on May 4, 2003. UponAlggeement’s termination and in accordance
with its terms, Defendant Eurotex and its succesagreed to cease use of Plaintiff's [P and not
thereafter use any of Plaintiff's IP or anythingédptively similar or substantially identical to it.

20.Despite what the Agreement said, Defendants fadealcquire protection for
Plaintiff's IP because they did not file trademasdgistrations in the Territory on Plaintiff's
behalf. Instead, they obtained such registratiorise name of Defendants H. Ayoub and Rhino
SMSI.

21.In early September 2004, after the Agreement’s iteation, Defendant H.
Ayoub, now in the capacity of a regular customedeced one tote of RHINO Trademarked
Product from Plaintiff. This product was specidilymulated by Plaintiff for use on a particular
project of Defendant H. Ayoub. The product wasppkd. Caston subsequently learned,
through his continued contacts at Fouad, that RfiehH. Ayoub planned to use this specially
formulated tote of material to prove-out the sgeatfons to the customer and then to switch to
another source of product manufactured locally.otJjearning of this scheme, Plaintiff refused
to sell more product to Defendant H. Ayoub and reted Defendant H. Ayoub of his
continuing obligations under the terminated AgreeimeDespite this warning, Defendant H.

Ayoub or his companies contacted Plaintiffs raw tenal suppliers seeking to obtain



information about Plaintiff's product formulatiorad to have the supplier provide product to
Defendants that was made to Plaintiff's proprietggcifications.

22.Plaintiff is using or is using through a relateangany or licensee the RHINO
Trademarks in commerce or in connection with thedgoand services identified herein by, for
example, selling the sealing product in totes kathelith the RHINO logo and RHINO mark and
in other diverse ways customary in the trade. RRENO Trademarks have been in continuous
use in commerce by Plaintiff and its predecessonpamies since September 1994. There has
been no final decision adverse to Plaintiff's clasfownership of such marks for such goods
and services or to Plaintiff's right to registemsaor keep same on the register. Additionally,
there is no proceeding involving said rights pegdamd not disposed of either in the United
States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTQO”) ahacourts.

23.Defendant’'s name, Rhino SMSI, was derived direfittyn Plaintiff's use of
the words “seamless,” “membranes,” and “systemstsimarketing literature.

24.Defendants’ filing of the SMS Logo United Statesademark Application
Serial No. 78/538,862 was fraudulent.

25.0n two occasions, separated in time by approximatietteen (16) months,
Defendant Rhino SMSI provided sworn declarationgh® USPTO that were knowingly and
willfully false when made and which callously digeeded the truth, which is that Plaintiff is the
rightful owner of the RHINO Trademarks.

26.After Plaintiff appointed Mohammad Al-Mojil Group*MIMG”) as its
exclusive applicator, Plaintiff helped MMG create naarketing booklet entitled, “Rhino
Membranes and Coatings MMG Pre Qualification Docutrthéhe “RHINO MMG Booklet”),

and a brochure entitled, “Rhino Membranes and @gatinc. State of the Art Solutions . . . for



SEAMLESS waterproofing, roofing, and corrosion gnog!!!” (the “RHINO MMG Brochure”),
for use in marketing the RHINO Trademarked Prodirctie Territory.

27.Defendant H. Ayoub admits that the RHINO Trademadnkse been well
known in the industry for a long time.

28.Defendant H. Ayoub and his companies are falsebygi@ting the origin of
the RHINO Trademarks as being the Defendants’ IBnathis is knowingly and willfully false.

29.Defendants’ sending of cease and desist lettererutite Saudi Arabian
Trademark Registration No. 824/69 (the “Saudi Traakk”) was done with the intent to cause
Plaintiff's distributor, MMG, and customers, suck 8 OMAC Trading & Contracting Est.
(“SOMAC™), to stop working with Plaintiff.

30.Defendant Rhino SMSI published, or caused to bdighdd, a marketing
brochure bearing the RHINO mark and the RHINO bhieoceros caricature logo and which
was entitled, “Spray Applied Waterproofing Systeftiie “Rhino SMSI Brochure”).

31.Defendants had access to the RHINO Original WSrsd have copied them,
virtually verbatim, including typographical errosgve and except to change the company name,
in a direct affront to Plaintiff's copyrights in ése works. The Rhino SMSI Brochure was
created by Defendants without any authorizatiomfr®laintiff and represents a knowing and
willful infringement of the copyrights that Plaifftihas in the RHINO Original Works. The
Rhino SMSI Brochure contains technical testing linfation and representations about the
RHINO Trademarked Products that were created biptiffayet are being used by Defendants as

if it were their own testing data. Defendants edpihe RHINO Original Works for the specific

10 “The RHINO logo (EXHIBIT A), Rhino MCI Notebook (®HIBIT G), RHINO Brochure (EXHIBIT
H), derivative work Ayoub/Fouad RHINO Notebooks (HBITS K & L), RHINO MMG Booklet (EXHIBIT P),
and RHINO MMG Brochure (EXHIBIT Q) are collectiveheferred to as the ‘RHINO Original Works.™ (Am.
Compl., Doc. 35 at T 15).
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purpose of infringing Plaintiff’'s copyrights anding and distributing illegal and unauthorized
copies of same to divert business from Plaintiffhe Territory and elsewhere.

32.The content in the Rhino SMSI Brochure is virtuadlgntical to the content in
Plaintiff's copyrighted brochures. The blue rhieoms caricature logo contained in the Rhino
SMSI Brochure is identical to the blue rhinocer@sicature logo owned, copyrighted, and
trademarked by Plaintiff.

33.After the Agreement’'s termination, Defendants mjed Plaintiff's
copyrights. Defendants have unlawfully used Piffiimtcopyrighted rhino caricature throughout
their business, including as a prominent part @irttompany name, on their rhinosms.com
website, in their marketing brochures, on their pany letterhead, on the sides of their company
vehicles, and as a part of the unauthorized Satmtiefmark. Defendants have also infringed
Plaintiff's copyrights in the marketing materialy breating a brochure virtually identical to
those covered by Plaintiff's copyrights. Such imjlement was willful and entitles Plaintiff to
treble the amount of damages. Plaintiff is alsttled to an impoundment of all Defendants’
infringing articles.

34.Defendant H. Ayoub has advised Plaintiff's, as wadl MMG'’s, customers
that he formerly employed Caston as a “painterbdtar), and that he fired him “because
[Caston] did not know what he was doing.” Thedseiaoods, which Defendant H. Ayoub knew
to be false and which were made with the inteninjore Plaintiff, MMG, and Caston, have
tarnished the reputations of Plaintiff, MMG, ands@eam. Caston was never an employee of
Defendants. Rather, during the Agreement’s teenyas a Director of Plaintiff Rhino MCI and

a consultant for Fouad. Furthermore, Caston wagernéred by Defendants. After the
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Agreement’s termination, Caston formally, voluntgrand politely withdrew from his position
as a consultant for Fouad.

35.Given the Agreement’s termination, Defendants aosv iresorting to a
fraudulent misrepresentation that Defendants owrofathe exclusive rights in the RHINO
Trademarks, RHINO Original Works, RHINO Trademark&aducts, and other RHINO IP in
the Territory and elsewhere in the world. Defernisanake no claim to any continued right as
Plaintiff's exclusive distributor, as such right svéerminated. Instead, Defendants have now
attempted what amounts to a corporate identityt tokPlaintiff Rhino MCI's name, RHINO
Trademarks, RHINO Original Works, RHINO TrademarkBdoducts, and RHINO IP and
domain name in every conceivable way.

36.The existence of the Saudi Trademark in DefendanAybub’s name and
Defendants’ threat letters to Plaintiff's then exsite applicator, MMG, as well as to MMG'’s
customers, have caused harm to Plaintiff's busiaesiscontractual relations with MMG in the
Territory and have had a chilling effect on MMG'gsiness activities on behalf of Plaintiff in the
Territory. MMG expressed directly to Plaintif6ithen immediate concern over the confusion
Defendants caused in the Territory, as well as imsnediate concern of being sued.
Additionally, SOMAC’s General Manager expressedfasion over who owns the rights to the
RHINO Trademarks and RHINO Trademarked ProductshusT Defendants’ activities are
causing actual confusion, deception, and mistakthenmarketplace regarding the affiliation,
connection, or association of Defendants with Rifiand Plaintiffs RHINO Trademarks.

37.Defendants are attempting to pass off their pragjuat if they are Plaintiff's
products, in a manner calculated to deceive Pfamtustomers, its authorized applicators, its

authorized applicators’ customers, and membersefigeneral public, in that Defendants have,
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in wholesale fashion, copied Plaintiff's trademarksarketing brochures, and products, which
are Plaintiffs RHINO Trademarks, RHINO Original \Ws, and RHINO Trademarked

Products. Additionally, Defendants have frauduienbtained a Saudi Trademark and filed an
application for U.S. Trademark Registration in affore to make Defendants’ products

confusingly similar to Plaintiffs. Defendants arneatentionally misrepresenting the facts
surrounding the source and nature of the goodssbkynder the RHINO Trademarks.

38.The sham created by Defendants is also intentipdabigned to deceive and
defraud the public into believing that Defendantstae original, authentic source of the RHINO
Trademarked Products and services, as if Plaingffer existed. Defendants have supplied
products under the RHINO Trademarks that are iofen quality and, thereby, serve to derogate
and tarnish the goodwill and good name built up Fgintiff in the RHINO Trademarked
Products.

39.Defendant H. Ayoub and his companies have used camtinue to use,
without authorization, the confidential and proparg trade secret information belonging to
Plaintiff.

40. Plaintiff has invested a great deal of time and eyoto establish the critical
mass of personnel, support staff, inventory, andstnimportantly, credibility of the RHINO
Trademarked Products in the eyes of its custom@pgcific to the Territory, Plaintiff’'s Director,
Caston, has also expended considerable time, ,eHod financial resources to develop the
RHINO Trademarked Products in the Territory antudd trust and credibility in these products
with customers and prospective customers in thatder. These investments were made before
and during the Agreement's term and have continsiede the Agreement’'s termination.

Furthermore, MMG has invested considerable sumsafiey, as well as human and capital
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resources, to maintain a substantial local inventofi the authentic RHINO Trademarked
Products purchased from Plaintiff, as well as atahmvestment in the warehousing, equipment,
and personnel required for the distribution andiapfon of the RHINO Trademarked Products
in the Territory.

41.Defendants’ threats of legal action to MMG and MM@ustomers have had
a chilling effect on the anticipated business thkintiff expected, and it has caused MMG to
withdraw as Plaintiff's distributor.

42.0n about September 9, 2006, Defendant H. Ayoubwitbtrepresentatives of
the Lootah Group of Companies (“Lootah”) locatedDnbai, United Arab Emirates, about
forming a joint venture with Defendant Rhino SM8Irmanufacture, distribute, and apply the
RHINO waterproofing technology. At this meeting,efBndant H. Ayoub discussed
waterproofing formulations with Lootah, includingpdalt, soap, and latex requirements. He
also provided Lootah with a small square samplerofluct, as well as one of his business cards
bearing the Rhino SMSI nhame and the RHINO carieggo.

43.In early October 2006, Mr. Wayne Giles (“Giles”) svtne Managing Partner
of GSP, an authorized agent of MMG and PlaintifBihrain. During a telephone conversation
between Defendant H. Ayoub and Giles on about Grtdh 2006, Defendant H. Ayoub
represented that he was the owner of the RHINO émadk and RHINO technology in the
Middle East, and that he was handling RHINO-relatedk for Saudi Basic Industrial Chemical
(“SABIC”) in Jubail. He also advised Giles that\Wweuld be suing Plaintiff and MMG shortly in
Saudi Arabia for use of his trademark.

44.1n late November and early December 2006, DefenHamtyoub contacted

Khalifa Abdukrahman Algosaibi Holding Co. (“Algogsd) about potentially forming a joint
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venture to produce the asphalt latex modified enlfRHINO products. He represented to
Algosaibi that he had purchased the equipment white Fouad and that he would sell this
equipment to Algosaibi. He also represented taosdgpi that the RHINO technology belonged
to him and presented Algosaibi with an asphalt smool sample and a copy of his Saudi
Trademark.

45.1n early December 2006, Defendant H. Ayoub represethat he was the
authorized agent and true owner of the RHINO teldgywto CMCI, a company based in Saudi
Arabia.

46.0n December 25, 2006, Defendants H. Ayoub and Moullymet with
Andrew Chan, Vice President — Commercial of MMGZH{an”) at MMG’s offices in Dammam,
Saudi Arabia regarding the cease and desist letieested to Defendants’ “RHINO SMS +
rhino logo” Saudi Trademark. During this meetinggf@nrdant H. Ayoub represented to Chan
that the Agreement was still valid and in forcee &bserted that he is the rightful originator and
owner of the RHINO trademark, products, and teabgplin Saudi Arabia. Defendant H. Ayoub
advised Chan that he intended on pursuing legabrachgainst MMG under the Saudi
Trademark. Additionally, he alleged that the paprlity of MMG’s RHINO product and
workmanship was causing damage to the Saudi Trattem#ith regard to this allegation, he
specifically asserted that the RHINO product agbly MMG at the Saline Water Conversion
Company (“SWCC”) plant had failed.

47.0n January 23, 2007, Mr. Eddy Yeah (“Yeah”), an xyge who reports to
Caston, personally witnessed a roofing crew of Baé#émt Rhino SMSI working at one of the
Khalifa building properties, specifically, the NaranCargo warehouse. This roofing job was

supposed to have been awarded to MMG. Additionaflyah personally witnessed a white
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Isuzu truck and a white double cabin Chevrolet pickuck parked side by side. Both vehicles
had labels on their doors displaying the Saudi @maatk and the blue rhinoceros caricature logo
along with an indication in English that the compé#ras locations in “U.S.A. — Saudi Arabia —
Bahrain” with the telephone number “Tel: 03 867 328Yeah took four digital photos of these
vehicles.

48. Shortly before trial, Plaintiff discovered the erisce of another variation of
Defendants’ infringing brochure of Plaintiff’'s TrExhibit X. This newly discovered marketing
brochure is entitled, “Waterproofing Applicationsyid is written chiefly in Arabic.

49.The “Waterproofing Applications” marketing brochuie virtually identical
to, strikingly similar to, and substantially simileo Plaintiff's U.S. Copyright Registration No.
TX 6-405-320 dated June 19, 2005, for the Rhino M@irketing brochure entitled, “Rhino
Membranes and Coatings Inc. State of the Art Samhsti. . . for SEAMLESS waterproofing,
roofing, and corrosion proofing!!!”

50.The “Waterproofing Applications” marketing brochuise virtually identical
to, strikingly similar to, and substantially simileo Plaintiff's U.S. Copyright Registration No.
TX 6-405-321 dated June 19, 2005, for the Rhino M®G marketing brochure entitled,
“‘Rhino Membranes and Coatings Inc. State of the 8dlutions . . . for SEAMLESS
waterproofing, roofing, and corrosion proofing!!!”

51.The “Waterproofing Applications” marketing brochuise virtually identical
to, strikingly similar to, and substantially simileo Plaintiff's U.S. Copyright Registration No.
TX 6-410-907 dated June 19, 2005, for the Rhino M®G marketing brochure entitled,

“Rhino Membranes and Coatings MMG Pre Qualificafimycument.”
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52.The “Waterproofing Applications” marketing brochuise virtually identical
to, strikingly similar to, and substantially simileo Plaintiff's U.S. Copyright Registration No.
TX 6-405-319 dated June 19, 2005, for the marketiaggbook entitled, “Rhino International
Waterproofing Membrane System.”

53.Defendants published or caused to be published “iNaterproofing
Applications” marketing brochure.

54.The *“Waterproofing Applications” marketing brochumgas created by
Defendants and distributed in Syria.

55.Due to Defendants’ continued assertion of their ngfally-obtained Saudi
Trademark against Plaintiffs Middle Eastern busmerelations, including MMG, MMG
withdrew as Plaintiff’'s distributor in the Territar Subsequent to the entry of this Court’s
February 22, 2007, Order of Civil Contempt, Pldiniiearned that Defendant H. Ayoub had
instituted a legal action in Saudi Arabia before thaudi Board of Grievances (Case No.
1254/3/Q/1427) (the “Saudi Action”) against Pldinind MMG regarding Defendants’ Saudi
Trademark. By official letter from the Saudi BoaridGrievances, MMG was required to appear
for a hearing before the Saudi Board of GrievanoesJune 5, 2007, in the Saudi action.
Representatives of MMG attended this hearing oe 52007, along with Defendant H. Ayoub.
Since MMG had already withdrawn as Plaintiff's disitor, Defendants dismissed the Saudi
action on about June 5, 2007.

56.Defendants have willfully infringed the copyrigltsPlaintiff Rhino MCI.

57.Defendants have willfully infringed the trademad{sPlaintiff Rhino MCI.
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58.Defendants have misappropriated trade secrets ftamtiff Rhino MCI,
have breached a confidential or trust relationshtp Plaintiff, have breached the IP terms of the
Agreement, and have competed unfairly with Pldintif

59. Defendants have fraudulently obtained the Saudidreark, and Defendants
have no rights in the Saudi Trademark.

60.Unless enjoined by this Court, Defendants intenddotinue their course of
conduct and wrongfully use, infringe upon, selldastherwise profit from Plaintif's RHINO
Original Works, RHINO Trademarks, and works derivedrefrom. As a direct and proximate
result of the acts of Defendants, Plaintiff hagadly suffered irreparable financial damage and
has sustained lost profits. Plaintiff has no adéguemedy at law to redress all of the injuries
that Defendants have caused and intend to caudkelnyconduct. Plaintiff will continue to
suffer irreparable damage and sustain lost prafit8l Defendants’ actions are permanently
enjoined by this Court.

61.Plaintiff Rhino MCI is entitled to an award of mdaagy damages and
reasonable attorney’s fees suffered by Plaintifi assult of Defendants’ unlawful actions.

62.This case is exceptional. Defendants’ conductibessn willful and malicious
and has caused injury to Plaintiff Rhino MCI ansl distributors. Damages assessed against
Defendants should be trebled.

63. Contrary to Defendants’ assertions in their “Stdeport” that they could not
pay the contempt award, at about the time of thegfiof such Status Report, Defendants had

significant assets available to use toward satigfyhe award of contempt.
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Plaintiff Rhino MCI is entitled to relief under tHeanham Trademark Act of
1946, 15 U.S.C. § 105&t seq. particularly 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114, 1116, 1117, 1&p5and
1125(d), for false designation of origin, falsemisleading descriptions and representations of
fact, and dilution based on Defendants’ wrongfubrapriation and use of Plaintiff's RHINO
Trademarks and the bad faith, illegal registratioafficking in, and use of a domain name that
incorporates Plaintiff's RHINO Trademarks.

2. Plaintiff owns all right, title, and interest in érno its trademarks, including,
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,606,268 and Ur&demark Registration No. 3,145,629.

3. U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,606,268 enjoys shatutory status of
being “incontestable” in view of the fact that tBection 8 & 15 Affidavits were timely filed and
accepted by the USPTOSeel5 U.S.C. 88 1058, 1065 and Pl.’s Trial Ex. Z-13ection 15
provides, in pertinent part, that a trademark ovendght to use the registered mark for the
goods and/or services registered shall be incatikestvhere such registered mark was in use “in
commerce for the goods or services on or in comeatith which such registered mark has
been in continuous use for five consecutive yeabsaquent to the date of such registration and
is still in use in commerce.” 15 U.S.C. § 1063aififf met this requirement as either it or its
predecessor has used this mark in commerce forcbwsecutive years, since August 13, 2002.
Furthermore, “there has been no final decision emvto registrant’s claim of ownership of such
mark for such goods or services, or to registraiglst to register the same or to keep the same
on the register,” and “there is no proceeding v said rights pending in the Patent and

Trademark Office or in a court and not finally dbspd of.” Id.
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4. The Court notes that, had Plaintiff's prior U.Sademark Registration No.
2,044,513, dated March 11, 1997, not been cancdlledo inadvertence, it too would enjoy the
statutory status of incontestability. This regstbn has since been replaced by U.S. Trademark
Registration No. 3,145,629, dated September 19.200 any event, Plaintiff's rights in both of
these marks were established in 1994 and have reem abandoned by Plaintiff or its
predecessor.

5. Defendants have infringed Plaintiffs U.S. TradeknaRegistration No.
2,606,268 and U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3628 Seel5 U.S.C. § 1114(1). One need
only look for a moment to conclude that Defendamsirk is a “counterfeit mark,” as defined,
because it is “a counterfeit of a mark that is segged on the principal register in the [USPTO]
for such goods or services sold, offered for salaistributed and that is in use, whether or not
the person against whom relief is sought knew smelnk was so registered.” 15 U.S.C. §
1116(d)(2)(B)(i). A “counterfeit” is “a spurious ark which is identical with, or substantially
indistinguishable from, a registered mark.” 15 IC.8 1127.

6. The Plaintiff's federally protected trademark rightlaiming dates of first use

back to 1994, include the following registered nsark

a. ll (seePl.’s Trial Ex. 2), and

b. rhlno (seePl.’s Trial Ex. 3).

Defendant’s mark is virtually identical to, and amporates both of Plaintiff's registered marks:

Similarly, Defendants’ use of the mark “RHINO” igrtually identical to Plaintiff's above-

registered RHINO mark. Defendants’ use of theatgaricature, particularly in a blue color, is
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identical with that of Plaintiffs U.S. TrademarkeRstration No. 3,145,629. Defendant’s
prominent use of the word RHINO, alone or in comnalion with the blue rhino is “a
reproduction, counterfeit, copy or colorable imaat of Plaintiff's U.S. Trademark Registration
No. 2,606,268. The evidence establishes that [dafés have used these marks in connection
with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, advertising of virtually identical goods and
services to those of Plaintiff. As such, Deferidaunse is likely to cause confusion (and has, in
fact, caused confusion) or mistake or to deceiliee evidence establishes that Defendants have
applied these reproduction, counterfeit, copy,aom@ble imitation marks to labels, signs, prints,
packages, wrappers, receptacles, or advertisenrgatgled to be used in commerce upon or in
connection with the sale, offering for sale, dimition, or advertising of goods or services that
are virtually identical to those of Plaintiff. Asich, Defendants’ use in this manner is again
likely to cause confusion (and has, in fact, causedfusion), cause mistake, or to deceive.
Based on the foregoing, Defendants are liable ub8éy.S.C. § 1114(1).

7. As this Court concluded in an earlier Memorandunm@p and Order:

Where, as here, the trademark owner and the alled@dger deal

in competing goods or services, the court needyrémek beyond

the mark itself. Interpace Corpyv. Lapp, Inc, 721 F.2d 460, 462

(3d Cir. 1983). Rather, the court must examine ringistered

mark, determine whether it is inherently distinetiand compare it

against the challenged markd. Here, Rhino has shown that the

mark used by Defendants is not only similar, bwntital to its

own. SegPl.’s] Exhibits A,B,C,F,K,L,P,Q,R, S, T,&nd Y.
(Doc. 27 at 5). This conclusion was further supgmbrby the clear and convincing evidence
subsequently introduced supporting this Court'syenf an Order of Contempt. (Doc. 64).
Additionally, a USPTO Examining Attorney has cor#d that, under the two-part analysis for

determining the likelihood of confusion, DefendarR$1INO SMS + rhino caricature logo so

resembles Plaintiff’'s Trademark Registration N&0B,268, as to be likely to cause confusion or
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mistake or to deceiveSeePl.’s Trial Ex. 4. The Court finds the analysisnducted by the
USPTO Examining Attorney to be persuasive and,ua$,shereby adopts itSee e.g., D.M.
Antique Import Corp. v. Royal Saxe Corgll F. Supp. 1261, 1274 (S.D.N.Y. 1969) (Even an
ex parteUSPTO determination is entitled to great deferdsemause of the recognized “expertise
of the trademark examiners”). The Court notes,tiatthis case, the USPTO Examiner’'s
determination was not evax parteas to Defendants Rhino SMS and H. Ayoub sinceiais
their application.See also Am. Hoist & Derrick Co. v. Sowa & Sons,, [i25 F.2d 1350, 1359-
60 (Fed. Cir. 1984) (finding, as to evidence rewadvby a patent examiner, the USPTO is due
the deference of a qualified government agencyuoned to have properly done its job);
Mechanical Plastics v. Tital Technologi€d23 F. Supp. 1137, 1149 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (holding
that courts should show deference to the factadirigs of USPTO trademark examiners) (citing
Goya Foods, Inc. v. Tropicana Prods., Ir#46 F.2d 848, 852-53 (2d Cir. 1988)).

8. As is supported by the facts of this case, Defetsdamringement has been
willful, and Defendants are jointly and severalpble for damages caused by their infringement.

9. Defendants’ actions, as supported by the evidesise, constitute violations
of Sections 43(a) and 43(d) of the Lanham Act, gppady, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) and 1125(d).

10. Defendants, in connection with their offering, atf#ing to offer, and selling
of these spray-applied products with Plaintiff RhiMCIl's RHINO Trademarks in commerce,
including through their website, have caused coafysand will continue to likely cause
confusion or mistake or to deceive as to the affon, connection, or association of Defendants
with Plaintiff Rhino MCI. Similarly, Defendants’nauthorized use of Plaintiff's registered and
common law trademarks on the RHINO Original Worksl @f the SMSI Brochure constitutes

commercial advertising or promotion that misrepnésehe nature, characteristics, qualities, or
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geographic origin of theirs or another person’sdgycservices, or commercial activities. In
addition, Defendants, in connection with their dfig of such spray-on products under
Plaintiffs RHINO Trademarks, are misrepresentihg brigin, sponsorship, or approval of their
goods, services, and commercial activities as bagspciated or affiliated with Plaintiff. As a
result, Defendants have violated 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a

11. Defendants have also engaged in cyberpir&gel5 U.S.C. § 1125(d). Itis
undisputed that Plaintiff established its use, ammerce, of the RHINO Trademarks back as
early as 1994. It is also undisputed that Defetedarere not involved in the spray-on asphalt
emulsion lining market prior to becoming an authed distributor of Plaintiff in 1998.
Furthermore, it is undisputed that Plaintiff esistteéd its current rhinomembranes.com domain
name on September 20, 2004, and that Defendaetsdstiablished their rhinosms.com domain
name on December 19, 2004. The date on which Dafea established their rhinosms.com
domain name was proximate to Defendants’ creatiom, December 27, 2004, of the
eurotexint.com domain name, and it was shortlyrdftey received Plaintiff's cease and desist
letters. SeePl.’s Trial Ex. M and N. Defendants’ use of Pl#irg registered rhino mark as the
dominant part of their domain name rhinosms.com @@ with bad faith intent to profit from
Plaintiff's registered rhino mark. This bad faitk evidenced by the unlawful conduct
complained of in this suit, as well as other fastoFor example, Defendants did not originate the
use of the rhino mark in connection with their goahd services or in connection with the
creation of their rhinosms.com domain name becthesehino name used in their domain name
is derived directly from the Plaintiffs name, rsggred trademarks, and domain name.
Defendants were well aware of Plaintiff's prior usfethe rhino mark preceding the creation of

their rhinosms.com domain name. Defendants clesstgblished the rhinosms.com website to
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promote their commercial activities in direct corifgen with Plaintiff. Thus, Defendants have
no ability to assert their use of this domain nasmsomehow non-commercial or “fair use.”
Based on the evidence, Defendants’ bad faith inierdlso established by their use of this
domain name to divert customers away from Plaiatiffl to make it appear that they are in fact
the Plaintiff, sponsored by the Plaintiff, or otivese creating confusion as to the source of goods
and services emanating from the rhino mark. Dedatslhave no reasonable grounds to believe
that the use of the rhinosms.com domain name was aise or otherwise lawful. As such,
Defendants commercial use of the rhinosms.com domaine and website to traffic in business
competitive with that of Plaintiff, via use of amain name incorporating Plaintiff's registered
trademark, constitutes cyberpiracy.

12. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a), Defendants’ vimat of Plaintiff's U.S.
trademark registrations, violations of 15 U.S.QL.185(a) or (d), and willful violations under 15
U.S.C. § 1125(c) entitle Plaintiff, subject to frenciples of equity, to recover:

(1) defendant's profits, (2) any damages sustauyetthe plaintiff,

and (3) the costs of the action. The court shaless such profits

and damages or cause the same to be assessedtsimti@rction.

In assessing profits the plaintiff shall be reqdiréo prove

defendant's sales only; defendant must prove ethehts of cost

or deduction claimed. In assessing damages thd ovay enter

judgment, according to the circumstances of the,das any sum

above the amount found as actual damages, not @irgethree

times such amount. If the court shall find that #meount of the

recovery based on profits is either inadequate xoessive the

court may in its discretion enter judgment for ssaim as the court

shall find to be just, according to the circumsemnof the case.

Such sum in either of the above circumstances stmalktitute

compensation and not a penalty. The court in eimegt cases

may award reasonable attorney fees to the pregalanty.

15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

13. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(b):
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In assessing damages under subsection (a) ofetii®is, the court
shall, unless the court finds extenuating circumsta, enter
judgment for three times such profits or damagedsichever is
greater, together with a reasonable attorney'srigbe case of any
violation of section 1114(1)(a) of this title orcten 220506 of
Title 36 that consists of intentionally using a kar designation,
knowing such mark or designation is a counterfatkr(as defined
in section 1116(d) of this title), in connection thvithe sale,
offering for sale, or distribution of goods or sees. In such cases,
the court may in its discretion award prejudgmeierest on such
amount at an annual interest rate established usdetion
6621(a)(2) of Title 26, commencing on the datehaf service of
the claimant's pleadings setting forth the claimdoch entry and
ending on the date such entry is made, or for shciter time as
the court deems appropriate.

15 U.S.C. § 1117(b). Although the statute doesdwedine “extenuating circumstances,” the
legislative history to this section indicates thawill be a rare case in which a defendant who
has trafficked in goods or services using a maak fte or she knows to be counterfeit can show
that he or she should not be assessed treble darhageéenate-House Joint Explanatory
Statement on Trademark Counterfeiting Legislati30 Cong. Rec. H12076 at 12083 (Oct. 10,
1984).

14. Because Defendants have used a counterfeit madninection with the sale,
offering for sale, or distribution of goods or sees,

[P]laintiff may elect, at any time before final gichent is rendered

by the trial court, to recover, instead of actuamages and profits

under subsection (a) of this section, an awardatti®ry damages

for any such use in connection with the sale, oftefor sale, or
distribution of goods or services in the amount of-

(1) not less than $500 or more than $100,000 penteofeit mark
per type of goods or services sold, offered foe,ssat distributed,
as the court considers just; or

(2) if the court finds that the use of the courdgérimark was

willful, not more than $1,000,000 per counterfedni per type of

goods or services sold, offered for sale, or distad, as the court
considers just.
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15 U.S.C. § 1117(c).

15. Additionally, “[ijn a case involving a violation ddection 1125(d)(1) of this
title, the plaintiff may elect, at any time befdreal judgment is rendered by the trial court, to
recover, instead of actual damages and profitgveard of statutory damages in the amount of
not less than $1,000 and not more than $100,00@@®ain name, as the court considers just.
15 U.S.C. § 1117(d).

16. With respect to violations referred to in sectidrlZ, “it shall be a rebuttable
presumption that the violator is willful for purpess of determining relief if the violator, or a
person acting in concert with the violator, knowingrovided or knowingly caused to be
provided materially false contact information td@mnain name registrar, domain name registry,
or other domain name registration authority in seging, maintaining, or renewing a domain
name used in connection with the violation. Nothingthis subsection limits what may be
considered a willful violation under this sectionl5 U.S.C. § 1117(e).

17. Additionally, this Court “shall have power to granjunctions, according to
the principles of equity and upon such terms ascthet may deem reasonable, to prevent the
violation of any right of the registrant of a madgistered in the Patent and Trademark Office or
to prevent a violation under subsection (a), (c)d) of section 1125 of this title.” 15 U.S.C. §
1116(a).

18. As set out above, Defendants, in connection widir tbffering, attempting to
offer, and selling of these spray-applied prodacts related services with Plaintiff Rhino MCI's
RHINO Trademarks in commerce, including throughrtesbsite, have caused confusion, and
will continue to likely cause confusion or mistaketo deceive as to the affiliation, connection

or association of Defendants with Plaintiff Rhin&CM
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19. To maintain a copyright infringement claim undee th.S. Copyright Act, 17
U.S.C. 8 102et seq. the copyright owner must have registered the gghted work. Seel7
U.S.C. § 411(a).

20. Plaintiff has five U.S. Copyright Registrations the RHINO Original Works

made the subject of this suit. They are as follows

a. ' l VA 1-375-178, dated June 19, 2006, for the Blue

Rhinoceros CaricatursdgePl.’s Trial Ex. A and A-1);

b. TX 6-405-320, dated June 19, 2005, for the RhinolIMC
marketing brochure entitled, “Rhino Membranes awoatihigs Inc.

State of the Art Solutions . . . for SEAMLESS wateofing,
roofing, and corrosion proofing !!!"sgePl.’s Trial Ex. H and H-
1);

c. TX 6-405-321, dated June 19, 2005, for the RhinolMC
MMG marketing brochure entitled, “Rhino Membranesda

Coatings Inc. State of the Art Solutions . . . EAMLESS
waterproofing, roofing, and corrosion proofing !{8eePl.’s Trial
Ex. Q and Q-1);

d. TX 6-410-907, dated June 19, 2005, for the RhinolMC

MMG marketing brochure entitled, “Rhino Membraneada

Coatings MMG Pre Qualification DocumengeePl.’s Trial Ex. P

and P-1); and

e. TX 6-405-319, dated June 19, 2005, for the marlgetin

notebook entitled, “Rhino International WaterprogfiMembrane

System” geePl.’s Trial Ex. K and K-1).

21. A copyright infringement action requires the pldfrto show “ownership” of
the work and “copying” of the work by the defendantLakedreams v. Taylp©32 F.2d 1103,
1107 (5th Cir. 1991) (citindpple BarrelProductions, Inc. v. Beard?30 F.2d 384, 387 (5th Cir.
1984)). To establish “ownership” of the work, RI#f Rhino MCI must show that the RHINO
Original Works are original, can be copyrightedd éimat Plaintiff has complied with all statutory

formalities under the Copyright Act.ld. All statutory formalities have been met. The
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applications, deposits, and fee were received eys. Copyright Office on June 19, 2006, and
the works have received their certificates of regteon. SeePl.’s Trial Ex. A, H, K, P, Q, and
Z-4). Additionally, Plaintiff received U.S. Copght Registration Certificates for each of these
applications. $eePl.’s Trial Ex. A-1, H-1, K-1, P-1, and Q-1). Te five Copyright
Registration Certificates constitupeima facieevidence of the validity of these copyrights. 17
U.S.C 8§ 410(c). “The Certificate of Copyright R&tgation introduced at the hearing constitutes
prima facie evidence of the validity of the copytig . . and its ownership."Universal City
Studios, Inc., v. Kamar Industries, In@17 U.S.P.Q. 1162, 1166 (S.D. Tex. 1982) (citing
Murray v. Gelderman566 F.2d 1307 (5th Cir. 1978); 17 U.S.C. § 410(¢Copying” is shown
by proof of access to the copyrighted material sunostantial similarity between the two works.
Apple BarrelProductions 730 F.2d at 387, n.3 (citindiller v. Universal Studios, Inc650 F.2d
1365, 1375 (5th Cir. 1981)). As the Fifth Circhi#s stated:

Two separate components underlie proof of actienaolpying.

First is the factual question whether the allegddriger actually

used the copyrighted material to create his owrkw@opying as a

factual matter typically may be inferred from pradfaccess to the

copyrighted work and “probative similarity.” Notl aopying,

however, is copyright infringement. The second asdally more

difficult question is whether the copying is legadictionable. This

requires a court to determine whether there istanbal similarity
between the two works.

Engineering Dynamics, Inc. v. Structural Softwdne,., 26 F.3d 1335, 1340-41 (5th Cir. 1994)
(citations and footnotes omittedgee als&traus v. DVC Worldwide, Inc484 F. Supp. 2d 620,
635-36 (S.D. Tex. 2007).

22. During the course of the Agreement, Defendantguigin H. Ayoub and M.
Ayoub, dealt directly with Plaintiff and Plaintiff’ representative, Caston, and were provided
with access to the RHINO Original Works made théject of the above-referenced U.S.

Copyright Registrations. Since the beginning & thistributorship relationship, Defendants
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were also aware of Plaintiffs use of the blue dhicaricature as a trademark. Likewise,
Defendants had direct access to the manuals arebouks made the subject of the above-
referenced U.S. Copyright Registrations, as sonteeyh were actually created for Defendants’
use as part of the Agreement. However, after tpee@dment’s termination, Defendants directly
and factually copied the blue rhino logo verbatind acreated a marketing brochure that is
virtually identical to that of the Plaintiff's regfiered works. SeePl.’s Trial Ex. X). Defendants
did not independently create their logo or brochthrey copied it from Plaintiff.

23. Defendants stipulate that they had access to therimlamade the subject of
each of Plaintiff's registered copyrights and ttiegir marketing brochures and other uses of the
rhino caricature are identical to, strikingly siarilto, and substantially similar to the material
made the subject of Plaintiff's U.S. Copyright Raations. (Doc. 59, Admissions of Fact § 16-
18, 25, 36-38, 45, 56-65 and Agreed Propositionsan? I 5-6). Based on these stipulated to
facts and propositions of law, Defendants haverigéd each of Plaintiff's registered copyrights
in nuMmerous ways.

24. The blue rhino caricature depicted in the logo Welo

was used by Defendants, without Plaintiff’'s authation, in Defendants’ rhinosms.com website,
Defendants’ letterhead, letter headers, vehicleS, Wrademark Application, Saudi Trademark
Application, Saudi Trademark Registration, invoickssiness cards, and brochures. The blue
rhino caricature used by Defendants is identicastiokingly similar to, and substantially similar
to Plaintiff's rhino caricature made the subjectl$. Copyright Registration No. VA 1-375-178
(Pl’s Trial Ex. A and A-1). It is a direct copy the protected content. As such, Defendants

have infringed Plaintiff’'s U.S. Copyright Regisitat No. VA 1-375-178 in multiple ways and in
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at least ten different end products.

25. Defendants’ marketing brochure (Pl.’s Trial Ex. ijringes Plaintiff's U.S.
Copyright Registration No. TX 6-405-320, dated JaSe 2005, for the Rhino MCI marketing
brochure entitled, “Rhino Membranes and Coatings [Btate of the Art Solutions . . . for
SEAMLESS waterproofing, roofing, and corrosion gnoeg !!'!” (Pl.’s Trial Ex. H and H-1).

26. Defendants’ marketing brochure (Pl.’s Trial Ex. i¥jringes Plaintiff's U.S.
Copyright Registration No. TX 6-405-321, dated JU® 2005, for the Rhino MCI / MMG
marketing brochure entitled, “Rhino Membranes apndthgs Inc. State of the Art Solutions . . .
for SEAMLESS waterproofing, roofing, and corrosgnoofing !'!” (Pl.’s Trial Ex. Q and Q-1).

27. Defendants’ marketing brochure (Pl.’s Trial Ex. ijringes Plaintiff's U.S.
Copyright Registration No. TX 6-410-907, dated JU® 2005, for the Rhino MCI / MMG
marketing brochure entitled, “Rhino Membranes andatitbigs MMG Pre Qualification
Document” (Pl.’s Trial Ex. P and P-1).

28. Defendants’ marketing brochure (Pl.’s Trial Ex. ijringes Plaintiff's U.S.
Copyright Registration No. TX 6-405-319, dated Ju® 2005, for the marketing notebook
entitled, “Rhino International Waterproofing MembeaSystem” (PI.’s Trial Ex. K and K-1).

29. For the same reasons as set forth above, Defendaatketing brochure
(Pl.’s Trial Ex. Z-29) also infringes these fougigtered copyrights.

30. Defendants’ copyright infringement has been wildald deliberate.

31. The U.S. Copyright Act provides that, “[e]xcept@berwise provided by this
title, an infringer of copyright is liable for egh (1) the copyright owner’s actual damages and
any additional profits of the infringer, as prowidey subsection (b); or (2) statutory damages, as

provided by subsection (c).” 17 U.S.C. § 504(a).
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32. Additionally, the court may, in its discretion, t@alv the recovery of full costs
by or against any party other than the United Statean officer thereof. Except as otherwise
provided by this title, the court may also awargasonable attorney’s fee to the prevailing party
as part of the costs.” 17 U.S.C. § 505.

33. Under Texas law,

[a] person may bring an action to enjoin an acthikio injure a

business reputation or to dilute the distinctivalgu of a mark

registered under this chapter or Title 15, U.So€a mark or trade

name valid at common law, regardless of whetherethis

competition between the parties or confusion ath&source of

goods or services. An injunction sought under sieistion shall be

obtained pursuant to Rule 680 et seq. of the Té&xdss of Civil

Procedure.

Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 16.29.

34. Plaintiff Rhino MCI, by its adoption and use of tR&INO Trademarks in

this District and elsewhere, has acquired commanrights in the RHINO Trademarks. For

example, Plaintiff has established and maintaimsmon law rights in its trademarks, including

the logo found below, which combines both of iegdl#marks registered under Title 15, U.S.C.

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,044,513 to thearftaricature lapsed, December 13, 2003,

35. The Court notes that, even during the time perioavihich Plaintiff's prior

to September 19, 2006, Plaintiff maintained supes@mmon law rights in the rhino caricature
as a trademark for the goods and services pro\agidiaintiff.
36. Defendants have unlawfully appropriated and usedin®#f’'s RHINO

Trademarks at common law without the right or pesian to do so from Plaintiff.
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37. Defendants have appropriated, for their own usé siinilar goods, services
and commercial activities, a virtually identicaddiemark to that of Plaintiff. Such illegal use has
already caused confusion and will continue to jikehuse confusion. Plaintiffs RHINO
Trademarks are strong, arbitrary marks and, as,saih entitled to significant protection.
Defendants are contacting the same customers atiffland are seeking to offer, sell, and
distribute their infringing goods, services, anancoercial activities within the same stream of
commerce Plaintiff uses. Defendants have not osedshred of originality in their advertising
or business activities but, instead, have reliedtlos wholesale copying of all aspects of
Plaintiff's business. Defendants’ actions havenbedIful and wanton, and they were carried
out with an express intent to injure Plaintiff'ssmess.

38. Plaintiff is entitled to a permanent injunction @njng Defendants from
continuing to use the RHINO Trademarks or confugisgnilar names, marks, or trade dress for
marketing, manufacturing, and/or selling spray-ondpcts and related services of the type
described herein.

39. Plaintiff is entitled to an award of its actual dages resulting from
Defendants’ illegal conduct. Due to the brazen|fulj and wanton nature of Defendants’
conduct, Plaintiff is also entitled to an awarceahanced damages.

40. In order to succeed on a claim for trade secreappopriation under Texas
law, a plaintiff must: “(1) establish that a tradecret existed; (2) demonstrate that the trade
secret was acquired by the defendant through aclbred a confidential relationship or
discovered by improper means; and (3) show thatd#fendant used the trade secret without
authorization from the plaintiff.”Gen. Univ. Sys. v. Le879 F.3d 131, 149-50 (5th Cir. 2004)

(footnote omitted).
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41. In order to determine whether there is a tradeetgxptected from disclosure
or use, the court must examine six relevant, boerolusive, criteria. They are as follows:

a. the extent to which the information is known ougsithe
business;

b. the extent to which it is known by employees antert
involved in the business;

c. the extent of measures taken to safeguard thecseofethe
information;

d. the value of the information to him and to his cetitprs;

e. the amount of effort or money expended in develgpime
information; and

f. the ease or difficulty with which the informatioroudd be
properly acquired or duplicated by others.

Id. (citing In re Bass 113 S.W.3d 735, 739-40 (Tex. 2003)). Bass the court expressly held
that “the party claiming a trade secret should metrequired to satisfy all six factors because
trade secrets do not fit neatly into each fact@rgwime.” Bass 113 S.W.3d at 740.

42. Additionally, a cause of action for misappropriatiof intellectual property
under Texas law was implicitly recognizedGapital Films Corp. v. Charles Fries Productigns
628 F.2d 387 (5th Cir. 1980). “The three elemeftmisappropriation listed by the district court
were (1) the idea is novel; (2) disclosure of ttieai was made in confidence; and (3) the idea
was adopted and made use of by the defendafpple BarrelProductions 730 F.2d at 389
(citing Capital Films Corp. 628 F.2d at 394).

43. In an action for trade secret misappropriation, gtentiff can recover actual
damages based on the value of what has been Ildkelplaintiff or the value of what has been

gained by the defendanSee Carbo Ceramics, Inc. v. Keef®6 Fed. Appx. 714, 722-23 (5th

-33-



Cir. 2006) (citingUniversity Computing Co. v. Lykes-Youngstown C@P4 F.2d 518, 535-36
(5th Cir. 1974) (footnote omitted)).

44. As set out in the Findings of Fact, Plaintiff RhiMCI has, at all relevant
times, maintained trade secret and confidentiarmétion regarding, for example, its spray-on
coating technologies, applications, and customeailde This information provides Plaintiff
with a competitive advantage.

45. Defendants learned of these trade secrets anddeontitdl information directly
from Plaintiff Rhino MCI under written obligatioreg confidentiality, which were set forth in the
Agreement. Defendant H. Ayoub has shared sucle tsadrets and confidential information
with others, including his brother Defendant M. Ao

46. Subsequent to the Agreement’s termination, Defetsdased and disclosed
these trade secrets and confidential informaticdhaut Plaintiff's authorization.

47. Defendants’ unlawful and unauthorized use and dsscke of Plaintiff's trade
secrets and confidential information has been wilihd deliberate.

48. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful and unauthatizise and disclosure of
Plaintiff's trade secrets and confidential inforroat Plaintiff has suffered actual damages.

49. Additionally, as a result of the willful and delita¢e nature of Defendants’
unlawful activities, Plaintiff is entitled to exertapy damages.

50. Defendants’ unlawful theft and misappropriation Ri&intiff's trade secrets
and confidential information have caused Plaintifeparable harm for which there is no
adequate remedy at law and will continue to cadamtif irreparable harm unless Defendants
are permanently enjoined by the Court. Accordind¥aintiff is entitled to a permanent

injunction against Defendants.
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51. Under the Texas Theft Liability Act, “a person wtammits theft is liable for
the damages resulting from the theft.” Tex. Cikad® & Rem. Code § 134.003(a). Under this
Act, “person” means “an individual, partnership,rpmration, association, or other group,
however organized,” and “theft” means “unlawfullppsopriating property or unlawfully
obtaining services|[.]”’ld. at 8 134.002. “[A] person who has sustained dawnagsulting from
theft may recover: (1) under Section 134.003(amfa person who commits theft, the amount of
actual damages found by the trier of fact andduiteon to actual damages, damages awarded by
the trier of fact in a sum not to exceed $1,000[Iff. at § 134.005(a)(1). Additionally, the
prevailing party is entitled to an award of its dotosts and reasonable and necessary attorney’s
fees. Id. at 8§ 134.005(b) See Avanti Sales Intern., Inc. v. Pycosa Chemitats,01-04-00983-
CV, 2005 WL 2670740, *3 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st 0iR005) (applies Texas Theft Liability
Act to unlawful appropriation or communication cdde secrets).

52. Defendants unlawfully appropriated Plaintiff's pesfy by stealing trade
secrets or communicating same to a third party.sueh, and in accordance with Tex. Civ. Prac.
& Rem. Code 88 134.001-.005, Plaintiff Rhino MCEistitled to damages, injunctive relief, and
an award of its reasonable and necessary attorfemss

53. A plaintiff must prove each of the following to abtish a claim for
conversion:

a. the plaintiff owned or had possession of the priypear
entitlement to possession;

b. the defendant unlawfully and without authorizatiassumed
and exercised control over the property to the wesich of, or
inconsistent with, the plaintiff's rights as an @mn

c. the plaintiff demanded return of the property; and

d. the defendant refused to return the property.
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Burns v. Rochan190 S.W.3d 263, 268 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st D006, no pet.) (citing
Apple Imports, Inc. v. Kool®45 S.W.2d 895, 899 (Tex. App.—Austin 1997, wenikd)). See
also Avanti Sales Intern2005 WL 2670740, at *4 (determining whether ddterts wrongfully
exercised dominion and control over trade seceetymonymous with determining whether the
alleged misappropriation is the “wrongful” condatdaimed of by plaintiff).

54. Unlike theft, the common law tort of conversion sla®t require proof of
wrongful intent. See Schwartz v. Pinnacle Comm’8d44 S.W.2d 427, 432-33 (Tex. App.—
Houston [14th Dist.] 1997, no writ).

55. Defendants unlawfully exercised dominion and cdntower Plaintiff's
RHINO Trademarks, RHINO Trademarked Products, RHISfginal Works, RHINO IP and
trade secrets, in denial of, or inconsistent wRhgintiff's rights in that property. As such,
Plaintiff is entitled to damages, injunctive reliahd an award of its attorney’s fees.

56. The elements of tortious interference with a cattese as follows:

a. the existence of a contract subject to interference

b. willful and intentional interference;

c. interference that proximately caused damage; and

d. actual damage or loss.
Powell Indus., Inc. v. Allen985 S.W.2d 455, 456 (Tex. 1998) (citidgS Investors, Inc. v.
McLaughlin 943 S.W.2d 426, 430 (Tex. 1997)). “[T]o recovan a claim for tortious
interference with a prospective business relatignghe plaintiff must establish the defendant’s
conduct is independently tortious.Baty v. ProTech Ins. Agencg3 S.W.3d 841, 858 (Tex.
App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 2001, no writ) (citingyal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. SturgeS2 S.W.3d

711, 726 (Tex. 2001)). “[I]t is not necessary fioe plaintiff to prove an independent tort, only
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that the plaintiff establish the defendant's comdumuld be actionable under a recognized tort.”
Id. (citing Sturges 52 S.W.3d at 726).

57. Based on the Findings of Fact in this matter, RR&iRhino MCI has spent
considerable funds in developing the goodwill aeged with its RHINO Trademarked Products
with its customers, as well as with its distribstar applicators and their respective customers.
Defendants have directly interfered with the bussh@nd contractual relationship between
Plaintiff and MMG, its applicator in the TerritoryAdditionally, Defendants have interfered
directly with Plaintiff's existing and prospectivaistomers, including those of its distributors
and applicators. Defendants’ interference is omg@nd will continue to take place unless it is
permanently enjoined. Defendants have interfergd Riaintiff's relationship with MMG, its
exclusive applicator in the Territory, as well ashwother customers of Plaintiff and MMG and,
in doing so, have put at risk the investment arafitppotential opportunity of the agreements
and business relationships.

58. By copying Plaintiff Rhino MCI's RHINO Trademark&®HINO Original
Works, and RHINO IP, Defendants seek to trade upenopportunity without being bound by
the Agreement.

59. Additionally, Defendants’ interference with Plaffis distributor, MMG,
caused Plaintiff to lose income on prospective goblers and ultimately to lose MMG as its
distributor. Defendants’ unlawful interference haspardized the potential for this business,
perhaps irreversibly. Defendants’ activities haeen intentional and malicious in their manner
of intervening into the existing or prospective ibess relationships of Plaintiff and MMG.
Defendants have no legal justification for sucheifgrence. As a consequence of such

interference, Plaintiff has suffered actual damabesm or loss.
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60. Based on the Findings of Fact in this matter, Daéfens have engaged in
conduct which constitutes fraud. The elementsafd are as follows:

a. that a material representation was made;

b. the representation was false;

c. when the representation was made, the speaker knewas

false or made it recklessly without any knowled§é¢he truth and

as a positive assertion;

d. the speaker made the representation with the irteit the
other party should act upon it;

e. the party acted in reliance on the representasind;

f. the party thereby suffered injury.
In re FirstMerit Bank, N.A.52 S.W.3d 749, 758 (Tex. 2001) (citifgrmosa Plastics Corp. v.
Presidio Engrs. & Contractors, Inc960 S.W.2d 41, 47 (Tex. 1998)). Defendants haade
material representations that they are the riglutfuriers of the RHINO Trademarks to Plaintiff's
customers and distributor, as well as the USPT@ewupath, and the Saudi Arabian Trademark
Office. These representations are false, and, wbefiendants made them, they either knew
them to be false or recklessly made them withoyt kamowledge of the truth and as a positive
assertion. Defendants made such material repeagerd of fact with the intent that those
hearing or reading these representations, beiitffa business relations or the USPTO, should
act upon the representations. These represerdatiere relied upon by those receiving them,
including, the USPTO, which will not permit a traolark application to proceed without a
declaration signed under penalty of perjury. Adiract and proximate result of such material
misrepresentations of fact, Defendants have cairged,. Plaintiff has and will continue to

suffer injury as a result of such willfully falsepresentations of material fact.
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61. Defendants have committed fraud and Plaintiff hafesed damages as a
result. Defendants had a contractual duty to Bffito obtain trademark protection on
Plaintiff's behalf but, instead, engaged in frandlirect violation of this duty. Additionally, a@s
result of the willful and deliberate nature of Dadlants’ unlawful activities, Plaintiff is entitled
to exemplary damages.

62. Under Texas law, a civil conspiracy is “a combiaatiby two or more
persons to accomplish an unlawful purpose or tomaptish a lawful purpose by unlawful
means.” Firestone Steel Prods. Co. v. Bargj@7 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Tex. 1996). The essential
elements of such a cause of action are as folléidstwo or more persons; (2) an object to be
accomplished; (3) a meeting of the minds on theeabpr course of action; (4) one or more
unlawful, overt acts; and (5) damages as the pratanresult.” Operation Rescue-Nat'l v.
Planned Parenthood of Houston & Southeast Tex., Bito S.W.2d 546, 558-60 (Tex. 1998)
(citing Massey v. Armc&teel Ca. 652 S.W.2d 932, 934 (Tex. 1983)). Civil conspyras a
derivative tort because a defendant's liability $ach conspiracy “depends on participation in
some underlying tort for which the plaintiff sedkshold at least one of the named defendants
liable.” See Tilton v. Marshall925 S.W.2d 672, 681 (Tex. 1996) (citi@arroll v. Timmers
Chevrolet, InG.592 S.W.2d 922, 925 (Tex. 1979)).

63. As set out above, Defendants H. Ayoub and M. Aydalye conspired
together to accomplish the unlawful purposes (fartsnplained of herein. H. Ayoub and M.
Ayoub are working in active concert together. Thaye had numerous meetings of the mind on
the objects of their courses of action, for examgieir meeting with MMG on Christmas day
during which they wrongfully asserted their Sauthdemark; and their work together via Rhino

SMSI in the United States and Saudi Arabia. As&imate result of the civil conspiracies
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carried out by H. Ayoub and M. Ayoub, Plaintiff haisffered damages. As such, Defendant H.
Ayoub has committed a civil conspiracy.

64. Unfair competition under Texas law is an “umbrdlda statutory and non-
statutory causes of action arising out of busirmessluct which is contrary to honest practice in
industrial or commercial matters.United States Sporting Prods., Inc. v. Johnny Ste@ame
Calls, Inc, 865 S.W.2d 214, 217 (Tex. App.—Waco 1993, wrihidd) (citing American
Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. Heritage Life Ins. Cd94 F.2d 3, 14 (5th Cir. 1974)). “Within the
broad scope of unfair competition are the indepehdauses of action such as trade-secret law,
‘palming off’ or passing off, and misappropriatigi[ Id. (citations omitted). However,
“[w]ithout some finding of an independent substaatiort or other illegal conduct . . . liability
cannot be premised on the tort of ‘unfair compatiti’ Schoellkopf v. Pledgef78 S.W.2d
897, 904-05 (Tex. App.—Dallas 1989, writ denied).

65. A plaintiff may prevail on an unfair competitionagin by establishing that
“(1) the plaintiff's trade name has acquired a sdaoy meaning through usage; and (2) the
similarity of the name used by the defendant wdaddikely to confuse the public.Associated
Tel. Directory Publisherdnc. v. Five D's Publ'g Co849 S.W.2d 894, 898 (Tex. App.—Austin
1993, no writ) (citingHudgens v. Goer673 S.W.2d 420, 423 (Tex. App.—Fort Worth 1984,
writ ref'd n.r.e.)).

66. The measure of damages in an action for unfair ebitign is lost profits.
“To recover for a loss of profits, it is not necass that the loss be susceptible to exact
calculation . . . [i]t is sufficient that the amduof loss is shown by competent evidence with

reasonable certainty."White v. Southwestern Bell Telephone Co.,, 1661 S.W.2d 260, 262
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(Tex. 1983) (citingSouthwest Battery Corporation v. Owdi31l Tex. 423, 115 S.W.2d 1097,
1098 (1938)).

67. Based on the Findings of Fact, Defendants’ use lain#ff's RHINO
Trademarks in connection with its business ac#sitconstitutes an unlawful appropriation of
Plaintiff's exclusive rights in and to its RHINO &aemarks, and such unauthorized use has
caused and will continue to cause damage and nabjgainjury to Plaintiff.

68. Defendants’ use of Plaintiff Rhino MCI's RHINO Trawgharks in connection
with their business activities has and will dam&iintiff’'s business reputation by leading the
trade and public to believe that the spray-on pctsloffered by Defendants are approved of or
sponsored in this District and elsewhere by PHintiSuch unauthorized use of Plaintiff's
RHINO Trademarks or variants thereof will contintee cause injury to Plaintiff's business
reputation and dilute the distinctiveness of itsIRB Trademarks, all of which constitutes
irreparable harm to Plaintiff.

69. Based on the evidence, the tortious conduct of idifets has interfered with
Plaintiff's ability to conduct its business, to RlEf's detriment, and constitutes unfair
competition. Defendants’ unfair competition wadlfwi and deliberate and entitles Plaintiff to
enhanced damages.

70. Defendant Eurotex, through Defendant H. Ayoub, ismguccessor or related
companies entered into the Agreement and relatedndment with Plaintiff through its
predecessor, Rhino Systems International, i&eelPl.’s Trial Ex. | and J). The Agreement is a
valid, enforceable contract. Plaintiff performadt@endered its obligations under the Agreement.
By virtue of the numerous actions of Defendantsienced herein, Defendants have violated the

Agreement’s IP provisions, and such breach has dath®&laintiff. As such, Defendants are
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liable for breach of the AgreemenSeeResidential Dynamics, LLC v. Loveled486 S.W.3d
192, 198 (Tex. App.—Fort Worth 2006, no pet.) (@tRenteria v. Trevino/9 S.W.3d 240, 242
(Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 2002, no pet.)¥fiing elements of a breach of contract claim).

71. During the Agreement’s term, Defendants receivexnfPlaintiff valuable
information which Plaintiff considered confidentiahd trade secret information. Defendants
continued to have an ongoing obligation under tlgreAment not to use or disclose such
confidential or trade secret information, and Delfants have violated this duty.

72. Various provisions of the Agreement are relevamttfie Court’'s purposes
here, including Y 10.3, 14.2, 18.2, 18.4, 18.56,183.7, 18.8, 18.9, and 19SgePI.’s Trial Ex.
1).

73.Nearly every one of the express restrictions on o$ethe RHINO
Trademarks, RHINO Original Works, confidential infoation, and other RHINO IP have been
wholly and irrefutably disregarded and breachedbjendants. For example, Defendants failed
to comply with Plaintiff's directives and expregsjuirements regarding Plaintiff's IP by failing
to secure trademark registrations of the RHINO @naarks in Plaintiff's name in the Territory.
Furthermore, Defendants’ present assertions tlegt okvn any rights whatsoever in the RHINO
Trademarks, RHINO Trademarked Products, RHINO @alWorks, or other RHINO IP is a
direct affront to the clear, express language ef Algreement. Defendants have damaged and
endangered Plaintiff's RHINO I[P, and they have purdd to use this IP for purposes that are
expressly contrary to the Agreement. Additionalgfendants assertions in the United States,
the Territory, particularly Saudi Arabia, and el$@ne to their rights to Plaintiff's IP violates the
Agreement’s provision that Defendants not asseyt @daim to the goodwill, reputation, or

ownership rights maintained by Plaintiff in the RH IP. Defendants failure to secure
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trademark protection on behalf of Plaintiff in tAerritory, their obtainment of the Saudi
Trademark, and their attempt to obtain trademateation with the USPTO are clear and
willful breaches of the Agreement’s provisions thatjuire Defendants to cooperate in the
registration of distributor as a registered userany one of the RHINO Trademarks under
applicable federal, state, and/or local regulatitmt, upon termination of the Agreement,
requires Defendants to take all steps to ensuienb longer a registered user of the RHINO
Trademarks; and that requires Defendants to ob¢giistration of the RHINO Trademarks in the
Territory. Additionally, Defendants misapproprati of Plaintiff's confidential information
breaches the Agreement.

74. Plaintiff has been injured by Defendants’ breacbiethe express provisions
of the Agreement, and as a consequence, Plaiasfshffered actual damages.

75. The Saudi Trademark was improperly procured by Dadats in breach of
the Agreement.

76. Additionally, as a result of Defendants’ breachtled Agreement, Plaintiff is
entitled to an award of attorneys’ feeSeeTex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 38.001.

77. Based on Defendants’ threats and assertions sat thg Findings of Fact, an
actual case or controversy exists regarding theeostip and rights associated with certain of
Plaintiffs RHINO Trademarks, and their associagembdwill, the RHINO Original Works, and
the RHINO IP worldwide. Per the Declaratory JudgmeAct, 28 U.S.C. § 220&t seq.the
Court declares that Plaintiff Rhino MCI owns aljht, title and interest in and to the RHINO
Trademarks, and their associated goodwill, the RBiIQriginal Works, and the RHINO IP

worldwide and that defendants have no rights irhsoarks, works, or IP whatsoever. The
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Court further declares that the Saudi Trademark wgwoperly procured by Defendants in
breach of the Agreement.

78. Plaintiff is entitled to an award of its actual dages suffered as a result of the
Defendants unlawful activities. At the conclusmfrthe Contempt Hearing, the Court found that
Defendants’ wrongful activities violating the prainary injunction order, and hence Plaintiff’s
rights set out herein, for the time period fromyJL4, 2006, to January 14, 2007, caused Plaintiff
to suffer monetary damages in the amount of onkomjlseven hundred forty-five thousand, six
hundred sixteen dollars ($1,745,616.00) ($7,616100costs, and $1,738,000.00 in actual
damages/lost profits). As such, the Court’s figdirand conclusions herein provide further
support and an independent legal basis from corteigourt supporting an award to Plaintiff
of $1,745,616.00 total in damages for the timeqaefrom July 14, 2006, to January 14, 2007.
Based on the findings made during the Contempt ingaand Caston’s testimony, the Court
finds that the Defendants’ wrongful conduct has dged Plaintiff in an amount of at least two
hundred forty seven thousand ($247,000.00) per mfrom January 14, 2007, to October 14,
2007, equaling an additional two million, twentyal thousand dollars ($2,023,000.00).

79. As an alternative, Plaintiff is also entitled te& whether it desires to receive
an award of statutory damages attributable to tbenterfeit and copyright infringement
evidenced above.

80. This case is exceptional based on the willful andlicitous actions of
Defendants. As such, Plaintiff is entitled toebting of an award of its actual damages.

81. Additionally, Plaintiff is entitled to an award @§ costs and attorney’s fees in

this action and shall provide such proof by wagihdavit.
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82. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled tce tentry of a permanent
injunction of the scope set out in this Court’'s Meandum Opinion and Order of July 14, 2006
(Doc 27).

83. In conclusion, the unlawful injurious acts of Deafants have been willful,
deliberate, and malicious and warrant a findind thes case is exceptional, that such acts have
caused injury to Plaintiff and Plaintiff’'s propertthat enhancement or trebling of damages is
appropriate, that Plaintiff be awarded its reastaaliorney fees, and that Defendants’ wrongful
conduct be permanently enjoined.

84. Defendant M. Ayoub has not been presented withnansans and notice of
this lawsuit, nor has a waiver of service beendfileThe Court notes, however, that an order
granting injunctive relief “binds . . . who receiaetual notice of it by personal service or
otherwise: (A) the parties; (B) the parties’ offiseagents, servants, employees, and attorneys;
and (C) other persons who are in active concepagticipation with anyone described in Rule
65(d)(2)(A) or (B).” Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(d)(2). &= on the evidence, the Court finds that
Defendant M. Ayoub has been acting in concert hth other Defendants. Accordingly, the
permanent injunction shall apply to him.

85. Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4(m), a couust dismiss a defendant
without prejudice if the plaintiff has not servetbpess on that defendant within 120 days of
filing the complaint, unless the plaintiff can shdgood cause” why service was not made
within that period. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(m). The gdamnt in the instant lawsuit was filed on June
22, 2006, and, the docket sheet reflects that DeienM. Ayoub has never been served, nor has
a waiver of service been filed. Accordingly, theu@t hereby DISMISSES without prejudice

Defendant M. Ayoub from this action.
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To the extent that any Finding of Fact is moreperly characterized as a
Conclusion of Law, it is ADOPTED as such. To tkéeat that any Conclusion of Law is more
properly characterized as a Finding of Fact, AOPTED as such.

Additionally, the Court hereby ORDERS that Pldinfile a proposed final
judgment, which addresses Plaintiff's election loa alternative set forth in paragraph 79, within

TEN (10) DAYS from the date this Findings of Fanta&onclusions of Law is issued.

SIGNED at Houston, Texas, this 30th day of Septen#i8

-

W-f—/ﬁd.’._a

MELINDA HARMON
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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